IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ST. PAUL FIRE & MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY) Supreme Court No Electronically Filed) District Court Cas Map 04 2021 01:55 p.m.
Appellant,) Elizabeth A. Brown) Clerk of Supreme Court
V.	
NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PA.; ROOF DECK ENTERTAINMENT, LLC, D/B/A MARQUEE NIGHTCLUB,))))
Respondents.	
)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC

Michael K. Wall (2098) 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 <u>mwall@hutchlegal.com</u>

Attorneys for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons

NRS 41.100	

CASE LAW

Ace Am. Ins. Co. v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 2 Cal. App. 5th 159, 167, 206 Cal. Rptr. 3d 176, 181 (2016) Ace Am. Ins. Co. v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 2 Cal. App. 5th 159, 167, 206 Cal. Rptr. 3d 176, 181 (2016)
Admiral Ins. Co. v. Illinois Union Ins. Co., 2010 WL 11579447, at *3 (D.Nev. May 24, 2010)
Allstate Ins. Co. v. Miller, 125 Nev. 300, 307, 212 P.3d 318, 323 (2009) 26
<i>Am. Alternative Ins. Corp. v. Hudson Specialty Ins. Co., 938 F. Supp. 2d 908, 915-916 (C.D. Cal. 2013)</i>
Am. Sterling Bank v. Johnny Mgmt. LV, Inc., 245 P.3d 535, 538 (Nev. 2010) 38
Am. Sterling Bank v. Johnny Mgmt. LV, Inc., 126 Nev. 423, 428, 245 P.3d 535, 538-39 (2010)
Am. Alternative Ins. Corp. v. Hudson Specialty Ins. Co., 938 F.Supp. 2d 908, 916 (C.D. Cal. 2013)
Am. Centennial Ins. Co. v. Canal Ins. Co., 843 S.W.2d 480, 482-83 (Tex. 1992) 40
Amerisure Ins. Co. v. Navigators Ins. Co., 611 F.3d 299, 307 (5th Cir. 2010) 43
Anderson v. Baltrusaitis, 113 Nev. 963, 964, 944 P.2d 797, 798 (1997) 25
Ardmore Leasing Corp. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 106 Nev. 513, 796 P.2d 232 (1990). 52
Arguello v. Sunset Station, Inc., 127 Nev. 365, 368-69, 252 P.3d 206, 208 (2011)
AT & T Techs., Inc. v. Reid, 109 Nev. 592, 595, 855 P.2d 533, 535 (1993) 37
AT&T Technologies, Inc. v. Reid, 109 Nev. 592, 855 P.2d 533 (1993) 31
AT&T Technologies v Reed, 109 Nevada 592 37

Atlanta Int'l Ins. Co. v. Bell, 438 Mich. 512, 521, 475 N.W.2d 294, 298 (1991). 30
California Capital Ins. Co. v. Scottsdale Indem. Ins. Co., 2018 WL 2276815 (Cal. Ct. App. May 18, 2018)
Canfora v. Coast Hotels & Casinos, Inc., 121 Nev. 771, 779, 121 P.3d 599, 604-05 (2005)
Canfora v. Coast Hotels & Casinos, Inc., 121 Nev. 771, 776, 121 P.3d 599, 603 (2005)
Canfora v. Coast Hotels & Casinos, Inc., 121 Nev. 771, 778 (2005) 49
Central Illinois Public Service Co. v. Agricultural Ins. Co., 378 Ill. App. 3d 728 (2008)
Colony Ins. Co. v. Colorado Cas. Ins. Co., 2016 WL 3360943 (D. Nev. June 9, 2016)
Colony Ins. Co. v. Colorado Cas. Ins. Co., 2018 WL 3312965 (D. Nev. July 5, 2018)
David Moradi v. Nevada Property 1, LLC dba The Cosmopolitan 9
Diamond Heights, 227 Cal. App. 3d at 580 35
<i>Diamond Heights Homeowners Assn. v. Nat'l Am. Ins. Co., 227 Cal. App. 3d 563, 578 (1991)</i>
Doctors Co. v. Vincent, 120 Nev. 644, (2004)
Fed. Ins. Co. v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co., 843 So. 2d 140, 145-46 (Ala. 2002) 40
Federal Ins. Co. v. Toiyabe Supply, 82 Nev. 14, 409 P.2d 623 (1966) 31, 32
Fenly v. Revell, 170 Kan. 705, 711, 228 P.2d 905, 909 (1951)

Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Cont'l Ins. Co., 308 Md. 315, 320-21, 519 A.2d 202, 205 (1987) 42
<i>Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Maryland Cas. Co., 65 Cal. App. 4th 1279, 1289 (Cal. App. 1 Dist. 1998)</i>
Fireman's v. Maryland's, 21 Cal. App. 4th 1586, 26 Cal. Rptr. 2d 762 (1994) . 51
<i>Fireman's Fund Ins., 65 Cal. App. 4th at 1296</i>
Fortin v. Nebel Heating Corp., 12 Mass. App. Ct. 1006, 1007, 429 N.E.2d 363, 364 (1981)
Strauss v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 26 Cal.App.4th 1017, 1021-1022 (1994) 53, 54
Fortis Benefits v. Cantu, 234 S.W.3d 642, 646 (Tex. 2007)
Fortis Benefits v. Cantu, 234 S.W.3d 642, 647 (Tex. 2007) 47
Gearing v. Check Brokerage Corp., 233 F.3d 469, 472 (7th Cir. (Ill.) 2000) 29
Gibbs v. Giles, 96 Nev. 243, 246-247, 607 P.2d 118, 120 (1980) 57
Globe Indem. v. Peterson-McCaslin, 72 Nev. 282, 303 P.2d 414 (1956) 32
Great American Ins.Co. of New York v. North American Specialty Ins. Co., 542 F.Supp.2d 1203, 1211 (D. Nev. 2008) 53
Great Am. Ins. Co. of New York v. Fed. Ins. Co., No. M200900833COAR3CV, 2010 WL 1712947, at *5 (Tenn. Ct. App. Apr. 28, 2010)
Gulf Ins. Co. v. Quality Bldg. Contractor, Inc., 58 A.D.3d 595, 597, 871 N.Y.S.2d 366, 368 (2009)
<i>In re Farmers Texas Cty. Mut. Ins. Co., No. 04-19-00180- CV, 2019 WL 2605630, at *6 (Tex. App. June 26, 2019)</i>

In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings, 128 Nev. 556, 573, 289 P.3d 1199, 1209 n.8 (2012)
<i>Interstate Fire & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Cleveland Wrecking Co., 182 Cal. App. 4th 23, 105 Cal. Rptr. 3d 606 (2010)</i>
<i>Interstate Fire & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Cleveland Wrecking Co., 182 Cal. App. 4th 23, 105 Cal. Rptr. 3d 606 (2010)</i>
Interstate Fire & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Cleveland Wrecking Co., 182 Cal. App. 4th 23, 34 (Cal. 2010) 44
J.B. Aguerre, Inc. v. Am. Guarantee & Liab. Ins. Co., 59 Cal. App. 4th 6, 13, 68 Cal. Rptr. 2d 837, 841 (1997) 46
Kelley v. British Commercial Ins. Co., 221 Cal. App. 2d 554, 563, 34 Cal. Rptr. 564 (1963)
Kim v. Lee, 145 Wash. 2d 79, 88, 31 P.3d 665, 669 (Wash. 2001)
Konkel v. Acuity, 2009WI App 132, 19, 321 Wis. 2d 306, 322, 775 N.W.2d 258, 265
Laffranchini v. Clark, 39 Nev. 48, 55, 153 P. 250, 252 (1915)
Laffranchini v. Clark, 39 Nev. 48, 153 P. 250, 251 (1915)
Laffranchini v. Clark, 39 Nev. 48, 153 P. 250 (1915)
<i>Lheto v. Allstate Ins. Co., 31 Cal.App.4th 60, 75 (1994)</i>
Lumbermen's Underwriting All. v. RCR Plumbing, Inc., 114 Nev. 1231, 1232, 969 P.2d 301, 302 (1998)

M. L. Marasinghe, "An Historical Introduction to the Doctrine of Subrogation: The Early History of the Doctrine I," 10 Val. U. L. Rev. 45, 48 (1975) 28

M. L. Marasinghe, "An Historical Introduction to the Doctrine of Subrogation: The Early History of the Doctrine II," 10 Val. U. L. Rev. 275 (1976)
Maryland Cas. Co. v. Acceptance Indem. Ins. Co., 639 F.3d 701, 706 (5th Cir. 2011)
Mason v. Sainsbury, 3 Doug. 61, 99 Eng. Rep. 538 (1782)
Maxwell v. Allstate Ins. Companies, 102 Nev. 502, 506 (1986)
May v. Anderson, 121 Nev. 668, 672, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005) 55
NAD, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State, ex rel. Cty. of Clark, 115 Nev. 71, 76, 976 P.2d 994, 997 (1999) 31
Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa. v. Riggs Nat. Bank of Washington, D.C., 646 A.2d 966, 971 (D.C. 1994) 47
Pub. Serv. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Liberty Surplus Ins. Corp., 2017 WL 3601381 (E.D. Cal. Aug. 22, 2017) 45
Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa. v. Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Ins. Co., 233 Cal. App. 4th 1348, 1362 (2015)
National Sur. Corp. v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co., 493 F.3d 752, 757 n.2 (6th Cir. 2007)
Nw. Mut. Ins., 76 Ca. App. 3d at 1048 35
Pease v. Egan, 131 N. Y. 262, 30 N. E. 102 30
Perera v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 35 So. 3d 893, 900 (Fla. 2010) 41
Phillips v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 73 F.3d 1535, 1538 (10th Cir. 1996) 47
Preferred Prof'l Ins. Co. v. The Doctors Co., 2018 COA 49, 14, 419 P.3d 1020, 1023, reh'g denied (May 3, 2018) 40

Preferred Prof'l Ins. Co. v. Doctors Co., 419 P.3d 1020 (Colo. 2018) 40
Puente v. Beneficial Mortg. Co. of Indiana, 9 N.E.3d 208 (Ind. Ct. App. 2014) . 46
Pulley v. Preferred Risk Mut. Ins. Co., 111 Nev. 856, 859, 897 P.2d 1101, 1103 (1995)
Pulte Home Corp. v. Parex, Inc., 174 Md. App. 681, 742, 923 A.2d 971, 1005 (2007), aff'd, 403 Md. 367, 942 A.2d 722 (2008) 28
Quilled v. Quigley, 14 Nev. 215, 217 (1879) 30
Ranger Ins. Co. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 389 So. 2d 272, 276 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1980) 41
<i>Reserve Ins. Co., supra, 238 N.W.2d at 864-65</i>
<i>Revert v. Henry, 14 Nev. 191, 197 (1879) 30</i>
<i>Riverport Ins. Co. v. State Farm, 2019 WL 4601511, at *8</i> (D. Nev. Sept. 20, 2019)
Roberts v. Total Health Care, Inc., 109 Md. App. 635, 648, 675 A.2d 995, 1001 (1996), aff'd, 349 Md. 499, 709 A.2d 142 (1998) 47
Safeco Ins. Co. of America v. Parks, 170 Cal. App. 4th 992, 1006 (2009) 26
Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. Addison Ins. Co., 448 S.W.3d 818 (Mo. 2014) 40
Sequoia Ins. Co. v. Royal Ins. Co. of America, 971 F.2d 1385, 1392 (9th Cir. 1992)
Smith v. Clavey Ravinia Nurseries, 329 Ill. App. 548, 552, 69 N.E.2d 921, 923 (Ill. App. Ct. 1946) 29
<i>St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. FD Sprinkler Inc., 76 A.D.3d 931, 932, 908</i> <i>N.Y.S.2d 637, 639 (2010)</i>

St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 135 Haw. 449, 453, 353 P.3d 991, 995 (2015) P.3d 991, 995 (2015)
Travelers Cas. and Sur. Co. v. American Intern. Surplus Lines Ins. Co., 465 F.Supp.2d 1005, 1026 (S.D. Cal. 2006)
<i>Troost v. Estate of DeBoer, 155 Cal. App. 3d 289, 294, 202 Cal. Rptr. 47, 50 (Ct. App. 1984)</i>
<i>United Nat. Ins. Co. v. Providence Washington Ins. Co., No. 05CV1798A, 2008 WL 2745218, at *3 (Mass. Super. 2008)</i>
Valentine v. Aetna Ins. Co., 564 F.2d 292, 296-97 (9th Cir. 1977) 42
Van Cleave v. Gamboni Const. Co., 101 Nev. 524 (1985) 62
Volvo Cars of North America, Inc. v. Ricci, 137P.3d 1161, 1164 (Nev. 2006) 53
W. Sur. Co. v. Loy, 3 Kan. App. 2d 310, 313, 594 P.2d 257, 260 (1979) 30
Willis Realty Assocs. v. Cimino Const. Co., 623 A.2d 1287, 1289 (Me. 1993) 55
Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005) 14, 25
Zhang v. Recontrust Co., N.A., 405 P.3d 103 (Nev. 2017) 31

OTHER

73 Am. Jur. 2d Subrogation § 2	29
73 Am. Jur. 2d Subrogation § 3	47
73 Am. Jur. 2d Subrogation § 4	46
73 Am. Jur. 2d Subrogation § 7 "Flexibility and Scope"	29

73 Am. Jur. 2d Subrogation § 75 28 Litig. & Prev. Ins. Bad Faith § 7: 32

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from two separate orders of the district court, both entered on May 27, 2020, granting defendant National Union Fire Insurance Company's ("National Union") and Roof Deck Entertainment, LLC, dba the Marquee Nightclub's ("Marquee") separate motions for summary judgment.¹ AA 2901; 2920. The district court denied plaintiff St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Company's ("St. Paul") motion for summary judgment against Aspen Specialty Insurance Company ("Aspen"), and granted in part and denied Aspen's counter-motion for summary judgment. AA 2937-44. The district court later denied Aspen's renewed motion for summary judgment AA 3405. The case is proceeding against Aspen below.

The district court certified each of the separate judgments in favor of National Union and Marquee as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b). AA 2918; 2935. These orders are therefore appealable as final judgments. NRAP 3A(b)(1). *Id.* Separate notices of entry of the two judgments were served by St. Paul on May 27, 2020. AA 2946; 2957. St. Paul's timely notice of appeal was filed on June 12, 2020. AA 3342. NRAP 4(a).

¹In the district court documents, National Union is often referred to by its parent company's acronym, AIG, by which it is commonly known in the insurance community, and Roof Deck is generally referred to by its dba Marquee Nightclub, or just Marquee.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal raises issues of first impression in Nevada, which have statewide importance. We suggest this Court should retain this appeal. *See* NRAP 17(a)(11) (cases raising issues of first impression) and NRAP 17(a)(12) (matters of statewide public importance).

St. Paul, by subrogation to the rights of its insured, Cosmopolitan, has sued two separate insurance companies involved in underlying litigation for insurance bad faith damages. This Court has never addressed the merits of such a claim under Nevada law (with respect to a primary or excess carrier), but the district court reasoned that given the opportunity, this Court would hold that a cause of action of insurance bad faith may be asserted by an excess insurer against a primary insurer, but not necessarily by an excess insurer against another excess insurer. As a result, the district court granted summary judgment to National Union, but denied summary judgment to Aspen. This distinction drawn by the district court is insupportable.

St. Paul contends that the reasoning that led to denial of summary judgment to Aspen should have led to the same result with respect to excess insurer National Union: An insurance company, primary or excess, that tortiously breaches its duty to its policyholder to settle is liable for all resulting damages, and that claim can be pursued by a paying insurer via subrogation.

2

This appeal presents a novel issue of law. The existence, or non-existence, of a cause or action in Nevada should be addressed by this Court, preferably *en banc*.

St. Paul also sued Marquee, the entity that caused the personal injury in the underlying action, on theories of contribution and indemnity, contractual and statutory. The summary judgment in favor of Marquee also presents novel issues for this Court's consideration.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

These are separate appeals (docketed as one) from separate orders granting summary judgment, each of which is certified as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b). Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Department XXIV, the Honorable Gloria Sturman, District Judge.

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On April 8, 2012, employees of Marquee severely beat and injured a patron, David Moradi, who was a successful hedge fund manager with a proven history of substantial income. The victim suffered debilitating brain damage.

The victim sued Marquee and Cosmopolitan. The sole basis for liability against Cosmopolitan was that it owned the property on which Marquee operated, and was vicariously liable for the acts of Marquee's employees. The parties in the *Moradi* action were:

Party	Status	Description
David Moradi	Underlying Plaintiff	
Roof Deck Entertainment, LLC, dba Marquee Nightclub ("Marquee")	Underlying Defendant	Nightclub operator: Marquee owned and operated the nightclub located in The Cosmopolitan known as the Marquee Nightclub; it was held liable for the violent acts of its employees.
Nevada Restaurant Venture 1, LLC (" Nevada Restaurant ")	Not an Underlying Defendant	Nightclub owner: Cosmopolitan leased the nightclub space in its hotel to its subsidiary Nevada Restaurant which, in turn, entered into a Nightclub Management Agreement with Marquee to operate the nightclub
Nevada Property 1, LLC ("Cosmopolitan")	Underlying Defendant	Hotel owner: owned and operated the hotel and casino known as The Cosmopolitan of Las Vegas. It was held liable, derivatively for the acts of Marquee, purely as the owner of the hotel, with a nondelegable duty to invitees.

Aspen as primary carrier for Marquee, and National Union as excess carrier for Marquee, each accepted the tender by Cosmopolitan as an additional insured under both the Aspen and National Union policies. Aspen and National Union defended the action by appointing a single set of attorneys to represent both Marquee and Cosmopolitan, despite the obvious conflict of interests.² Although Aspen and National Union were repeatedly informed by their attorneys that the potential verdict in the case might exceed \$100 million dollars, they inexplicably rejected an offer of judgment of \$1.5 million, forcing the case to trial based on dubious defenses.³ A joint jury verdict of \$160.5 million was returned against Marquee and Cosmopolitan.

With that, Aspen agreed to pay a confidential amount and National Union agreed to pay a confidential amount. Their insured, Cosmopolitan, faced the

³National Union may argue there were reasons to push the case to trial, but these would be defenses to the claims asserted by St. Paul, not a reason to disallow St. Paul's claims at the starting gate. The issue as to the strength, or weakness, of St. Paul's claims is not before this Court. The district court determined that no cause of action exists, and that is the only issue properly before this Court.

National Union may also point the finger at Aspen, but any such cross-claims should have been asserted in district court. Discovery was not permitted by the court; all that was before the district court was the pleadings and argument. Relative fault as between Aspen and National Union should have been-and should still be-resolved in the action below.

²While National Union had no duty to defend, it exercised its right to associate and eventually took over the defense, using a single set of attorneys to represent Marquee and Cosmopolitan. The conflict was either ignored or accepted by National Union. National Union was aware of a \$1.5 million offer of judgment, and chose not to accept it under circumstances where refusal of the offer was bad faith.

balance of a multi-million judgment.

In order to get Cosmopolitan out of harm's way, The Zurich Insurance Company ("Zurich") paid a confidential amount and St. Paul paid a confidential amount to Moradi on behalf of Cosmopolitan. Had Aspen and National Union met their obligations to Cosmopolitan to provide it an un-conflicted defense, to reasonably pursue settlement on its behalf, and to indemnify it from the damages caused by their breaches of those duties, Cosmopolitan would not have found itself on the wrong side of a \$160.5 million joint judgment, and Zurich and St. Paul would not have had to pay millions to resolve that liability.

The insurance policies at issue can been illustrated like this:

///

///

///

///

///

National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, PA ("National Union" or "AIG")

Named Insured: Marquee <u>Add. Insured: Cosmopolitan</u> Limits: \$25 million Excess

Aspen Specialty Insurance Company ("Aspen")

Named Insured: Marquee <u>Add. Insured: Cosmopolitan</u> Limits:

\$1 million Coverage A;
\$1 million Coverage B;
\$2 million Aggregate
(district court ruled \$1 million exposed.)

St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company ("St. Paul")

Named Insured: Cosmopolitan Limits: \$25 million Excess

Zurich Insurance Company ("Zurich")

Named Insured: Cosmopolitan Limits: \$1 million

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