Case No. 83144

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

ST. PAUL FIRE & MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant,

vs.

NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, PA.; and ROOF DECK ENTERTAINMENT, LLC d/b/a MARQUEE NIGHTCLUB,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Aug 02 2021 05:56 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable GLORIA STURMAN, District Judge District Court Case No. A-17-758902-C

Respondents' Answering Brief

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

B. <u>St. Paul Sues Marquee and its Insurers</u>

St. Paul then sued Marquee, Aspen, and National Union under theories of subrogation, contribution, express indemnity, and estoppel, seeking to recoup its entire settlement payment. (1 App. 1; 3 App. 452.) The district court granted summary judgment to Marquee and National Union. (15 App. 2957, 2978.)

C. <u>The Claims Against the Marquee</u>

1. St. Paul Sues the Marquee for Contribution and Indemnity

St. Paul asserted two claims against the Marquee: First, St. Paul alleged that it was subrogated to the Cosmopolitan's contribution rights

against the Marquee. (3 App. 471-72.) According to St. Paul, the Marquee alone caused Moradi's injuries; the Cosmopolitan was just vicariously liable, so St. Paul had paid more than the Cosmopolitan's equitable share. (3 App. 471, ¶¶ 117-18.) Second, St. Paul alleged that it was subrogated to the Cosmopolitan's indemnification rights; had the Marquee indemnified the Cosmopolitan, St. Paul would not have needed to contribute to the settlement. (3 Ap.. 472-73, ¶¶ 127.)

2. The Nightclub Management Agreement Requires a Waiver of Subrogation

The Cosmopolitan leased the nightclub location to its subsidiary, Nevada Restaurant Venture 1, LLC ("NRV1"), which in turn entered into a nightclub management agreement with the Marquee. (R. App. 4, 12 App. 2398.)

The agreement requires both NRV1 and the Marquee to maintain insurance (R. App. 65-67, 12 App. 2404-06, § 12), and requires each to indemnify the other for losses "incurred as a result of" its own "negligence or willful misconduct" "and not otherwise covered by the insurance required to be maintained hereunder" (R. App. 67-68, 12 App. 2406-07, § 13). "Losses" under the agreement are liabilities "not reimbursed by insurance." (R. App. 13, § 1.) Both NRV1's and the Marquee's insurance policies "shall contain a waiver of subrogation" against NRV1, the Cosmopolitan, and the Marquee. (R. App. 67, 12 App. 2406, §§ 12.2.3, 12.2.6.)

3. The Cosmopolitan's Lease Requires the Cosmopolitan to Obtain Insurance

Attached to the nightclub management agreement is the Cosmopolitan's lease with NRV1.³ (R. App. 109, 12 App. 2413.) The lease provides that the Cosmopolitan "will carry and maintain" "[a]ll insurance required to obtained by [NRV1] under section 12.1" of the nightclub management agreement. (R. App. 112, § 1(h); R. App. 124, § 17.2.) (NRV1 has an identical obligation in the lease to "carry and maintain"

³ The "Lease" is defined in the recitals to the nightclub management agreement:

Prior to (or concurrently with) the execution of this Agreement, [Cosmopolitan] or its Affiliate, as landlord, and [NRV1], as tenant, has (or will) enter [*sic*] into a certain lease agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit "D" whereby [NRV1] will lease the Premises from [Cosmopolitan] (the "Lease").

⁽R. App. 5, 12 App. 2399, Recital C.) References to the "Lease" appear throughout the nightclub management agreement, including in provisions to which the Cosmopolitan expressly agreed to be bound. (*E.g.*, R. App. 62, § 9.10; R. App. 93.)

this insurance. (R. App. 124, § 17.2.)

4. St. Paul's Excess Policy Contains the Required Waiver of Subrogation

In accordance with these requirements, St. Paul's excess policy contains an endorsement providing that if the Cosmopolitan has "agreed in a written contract[] to waive [its] rights to recovery of payment for damages for Bodily Injury, Property Damage, Personal Injury or Advertising Injury," St. Paul "agree[s] to waive [its] right of recovery for such payment." (8 App. 1517 (boldface omitted).)

5. The District Court Grants the Marquee Summary Judgment

Because of these agreements and St. Paul's endorsement of the subrogation waiver provision to its policy, the district court granted summary judgment to the Marquee. (15 App. 2980.)

The district court held that the required waiver of subrogation in St. Paul's policy barred both of St. Paul's subrogation claims against the Marquee. (15 App. 2990-92.)

Citing extensive authorities, the district court noted that subrogation waivers are "universally enforced." (15 App. 2991, ¶ 9 (citing Davlar Corp. v. Superior Court, 62 Cal. Rptr. 2d 199, 201-02 (Cal. Ct. App. 1997); Lloyd's Underwriters v. Craig & Rush, Inc., 32 Cal. Rptr. 2d
144, 146-49 (Cal. Ct. App. 1994); Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Sizzler
USA Real Property, Inc., 86 Cal. Rptr. 3d 715, 718-20 (Cal. Ct App.
2008); Commerce & Indus. Ins. Co. v. Orth, 458 P.2d 926, 929 (Or.
1969); Touchet Valley Grain Growers, Inc. v. Opp & Seibold Gen. Constr., Inc., 831 P.2d 724, 728 (Wash. 1992); Amco Ins. Co. v. Simplex
Grinnell LP, No. 14-cv-890 GBW/CG, 2016 WL 4425095, *7 (D. N.M.
Feb. 29, 2016).)

The district court also considered how the nightclub management agreement required such waiver, including as to the Cosmopolitan as one of the "Owner Insured Parties" required to maintain insurance. (15 App. 2990, ¶¶ 3-5 (citing 12 App. 2406, §§ 12.2.3, 12.2.6.)

> 3. Pursuant to Section 12.2.6 . . . the insurance policies required under the NMA [Nightclub Management Agreement] must "contain a waiver of subrogation against the Owner Insured Parties and [Marquee] and its officers, directors, officials, managers, employees and agents and the [Marquee] Principals" as defined in the NMA.

> 4. Section 12.2.3 of the NMA defines "Owner Insured Parties" to include the Owner (NRV1), the Project Owner (Cosmopolitan), the landlord and tenant under the Lease (also Cosmopolitan and NRV1), their respective parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, and other related persons and entities.

5. Section 12.2.6 of the NMA also provides that the

waiver of subrogation requirement applies to both "Operator Policies" and "Owner Policies."

6. "Operator Policies" are defined as Marquee's insurance policies, while "Owner Policies" are defined in section 12.2.5 as insurance maintained by any "Owner Insured Parties."

(15 App. 2990, ¶¶ 2-6.)

And St. Paul's policy in fact contained the required waiver:

The intent of the parties to the NMA to waive subrogation rights for losses paid by insurance proceeds is clear and unambiguous as expressed in Section 12.2.6 of the NMA. To find otherwise would be inconsistent with the terms of the NMA and the Waiver of Rights of Recovery Endorsement contained within the St. Paul Excess Policy.

(15 App. 2990-91, ¶¶ 7-8, 10.)

The district court carefully considered and rejected St. Paul's counterarguments. Even as it sought to assert rights and enforce the Marquee's obligations under the nightclub management agreement, St. Paul argued that a limitation in that agreement—the subrogation waiver requirements—did not apply "because Cosmopolitan, as the Project Owner, only agreed to be bound with respect to certain provision of the NMA, which did not include the subrogation waiver provision contained in 12.2.6 of the NMA." (15 App. 2991, ¶ 11.) But as the district court held, the Cosmopolitan was bound by the terms of the nightclub agreement, under the terms of its own lease as attached to that agree-

ment:

This argument fails because it ignores that Section 17.2 of the Lease attached as Exhibit D to the NMA delegated NRV1's insurance requirements under the NMA to Cosmopolitan. Section 17.2 of the Lease provides that Cosmopolitan shall procure "all insurance required to be obtained by" NRV1 under Section 12.1 of the NMA.... Thus, Cosmopolitan assumed NRV1's obligation to provide the insurance as required by Section 12.1 of the NMA . . . including the waiver of subrogation obligation set out in Section 12.2.6. Regardless of whether Cosmopolitan agreed to be bound by the subrogation waiver provision contained in 12.2.6 of the NMA or assumed NRV1's insurance obligations under the NMA, the clear intent of the parties to the NMA was to waive any claims for losses against each other that were paid by insurance proceeds including claims against the Owner Insured Parties (as defined in NMA), which includes Cosmopolitan.

(15 App. 2991-92, ¶ 11 (citation omitted).)

And although St. Paul argued that the Cosmopolitan is not a

party to the nightclub management agreement, the district court found

that the Cosmopolitan was bound as a third-party beneficiary seeking

indemnity under the nightclub management agreement:

St. Paul is pursuing subrogation claims by attempting to step into Cosmopolitan's shoes as a third-party beneficiary of the NMA and the intent of the parties to the NMA was to waive such subrogation rights. (15 App. 2992, ¶ 12 (citing Canfora v. Coast Hotels & Casinos, Inc., 121
Nev. 771, 779, 121 P.3d 599, 604-05 (2005); Gibbs v. Giles, 96 Nev. 243, 246-247, 607 P.2d 118, 120 (1980)).)

The district court also barred St. Paul's claims for three "separate and independent reason[s]" (15 App. 2992, 2994, 2995, ¶¶ 14, 22, 26):

First, St. Paul could not be subrogated to the Cosmopolitan's indemnity rights because the indemnity obligation in the nightclub management agreement only pertained to losses "not reimbursed by insurance." (15 App. 2993, ¶¶ 15-16.) Here, it was undisputed that insurance covered both the cost of Cosmopolitan's defense and its share of the settlement, so the Cosmopolitan never incurred a "loss" that the Marquee was required to indemnify:

19. The exclusion of insurance payments from the definition of "Losses" in Section 1 of the NMA and the indemnity provision set out in Section 13.1 expressly limits any purported indemnity obligation by Marquee to Cosmopolitan to uninsured losses. ([8 App. 1456, 1458-59] UF 18, 20.)

20. Cosmopolitan's defense in the underlying action and its joint-and-several liability for the verdict and resulting settlement were paid for by insurance. Thus, there is no uninsured loss for which Cosmopolitan could pursue indemnity against Marquee.

(15 App. 2993, ¶¶ 19-20.)

Second, St. Paul could not be subrogated to any right of contribution because, as an intentional tortfeasor, the Cosmopolitan had no such right: NRS 17.255 bars intentional tortfeasors from seeking contribution. (15 App. 2994, ¶ 23.) Yet while "Cosmopolitan had its own obligation pursuant to the nondelegable duty to keep patrons of The Cosmopolitan Hotel & Casino safe," the jury found it "jointly liable with Marquee for the intentional tort claims of assault, battery, and false imprisonment." (15 App. 2994, ¶¶ 24-25.) So under NRS 17.255, Cosmopolitan was an intentional tortfeasor barred from seeking contribution. (*Id.*)

Third, no contribution right existed because the parties had instead contracted for express indemnity. (15 App. 2995, $\P\P$ 26-29.) Because the Marquee had agreed to indemnify only the Cosmopolitan's losses not paid by insurance, the Marquee could not be liable under a contribution theory:

> Given the existence of the contractually bargained for right to indemnity set out in Section 13 of the NMA, Cosmopolitan has no statutory or equitable right to contribution under Nevada common law or the Uniform Contribution Act pursuant to NRS 17.265. St. Paul asserts the contribution claim is permitted because it is an alternative theory of recovery in the event the express indemnity claim does not prevail. However,

a contribution theory of recovery is not permitted when a contract for express indemnity exists to govern the obligations of the respective parties. Accordingly, St. Paul cannot pursue a contribution claim against Marquee based on the alleged subrogation principles as a matter of law.

(15 App. 2995, ¶ 29.)

D. <u>The Claims Against National Union</u>

1. St. Paul Sues National Union for Contractual and Statutory Breaches, Estoppel, and Contribution

St. Paul asserted four "claims" against National Union: In two subrogation claims, St. Paul alleged that National Union had breached both (1) its contractual obligations to defend and indemnify the Cosmopolitan under the National Union policy issued to the Marquee and (2) its statutory obligation to settle within policy limits before trial. (3 App. 466-71.) According to St. Paul, National Union mishandled the defense of the Moradi action and had an irreconcilable conflict in failing to assert the Cosmopolitan's indemnity rights against the Marquee. (3 App. 461, ¶ 59.) St. Paul also claimed that, in electing not to participate in the defense or settlement negotiations, St. Paul had relied on Aspen's and National Union's representations that their coverage was primary to the Cosmopolitan's tower, and that these carriers are now estopped from arguing that St. Paul had an obligation to resolve the Moradi action. (3 App. 475, ¶ 134.) Finally, St. Paul sought equitable contribution for having "incurred amounts in excess of its equitable share," while asserting National Union paid nothing for the Cosmopolitan even though both St. Paul and National Union contributed the identical amount of policy limits to the settlement.⁴ (3 App. 476, ¶ 138.)

2. The Policies' Provisions for "Other Insurance"

The St. Paul excess policy for the Cosmopolitan addresses its posi-

tion vis-à-vis the scheduled Zurich policy and other insurance:

If Other Insurance applies to damages that are also covered by this policy, this policy will apply excess of and shall not contribute with, that Other Insurance, whether it is primary, excess, contingent or any other basis. However, this provision will not apply if the Other Insurance is specifically written to be excess of this policy.

(8 App. 1504, ¶ L (boldface omitted).)

The National Union excess policy for the Marquee likewise ad-

dresses other insurance: National Union's coverage begins "in excess of

⁴ St. Paul has abandoned its estoppel claim on appeal. *See Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 156, 161 n.3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n.3 (2011) ("Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived.").

the Retained Limit" (9 App. 1675, ¶ I.A), which is the combined limits of all scheduled insurance policies (the Aspen policy) and "Other Insurance," a term carrying nearly the same definition as in the St. Paul policy:

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